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CHAIRMAN'S
REVIEW
Despite COVID-19 posing unprecedented challenges towards the last
quarter of FY2019/2020, I am heartened to see our residents, our
community and our Town Council team, persevering and staying
committed together as one, to take those challenges.
I am pleased to share that our Pasir Ris - Punggol Town Council has
once again achieved “Green” ratings for all five performance indicators
of Town Council operations (Estate Cleanliness, Estate Maintenance,
Lift Performance, S&CC Arrears Management and Corporate
Governance), as released in the December 2019 Town Council
Management Report (TCMR). This hat-trick is a testament to our
dedication and hard work, as well as our residents’ collaboration in
helping to make our towns better.
We give our assurance that we will continue to enhance the estates
through programmes such as the Selective Lift Replacement
Programme (SLRP), Neighbourhood Renewal Programme (NRP),
Cyclical Programme and Repairs and Redecoration Programme
(R&R), despite current challenges faced with labour shortage in the
building & construction industry. We also seek your kind understanding
and patience for these matters. We will do our best to ensure that our
residents can continually look forward to revitalised estates, with
added facilities and amenities suited to their needs.
In FY2019/2020, a total of around S$33.3M was spent on Cyclical and
Cyclical Lift Works to ensure that our key facilities are well-maintained
and kept at optimal conditions for our residents. Some S$5.9M was
spent on Town Improvement Works, which were the results from our
collaborations and engagement with residents and grassroots
volunteers.
Since November 2019, our residents have also been able to enjoy
direct connectivity between Pasir Ris Town and Punggol Town through
the new link along Pasir Ris Industrial Drive 1.

CHAIRMAN'S
REVIEW
I would like to take this opportunity to thank our supportive and
understanding residents for almost 8 years that I have served as
Chairman to the Town Council. Looking forward, I am confident that
our new team will be able to manoeuvre the new challenges brought
forth by COVID-19 with your continued support. Let us all work
together in harmony to keep everyone safe, continue to show more
empathy for each other, and adapt to the new normal. Pasir Ris Punggol is and will continue to be our endearing, home, town, and
community for all.

TOWN
IMPROVEMENT
PROJECTS
Through active engagement with various stakeholders such as
residents and grassroots volunteers, we make an effort to understand
and identify our residents’ needs. Our continual town improvement
works has to address the evolving needs of our residents, through
improving facilities and connectivity within the estates.
In FY2019/2020, a total of around S$5.9M was dedicated to various
improvement projects. About S$2.8M was spent on construction
and/or upgrading of playgrounds and fitness corners to meet the
recreational needs of our residents. S$2.2M went into constructing
drop-off porches, covered walkways and barrier-free access facilities
to facilitate smoother commutes and better connectivity within the town
for our residents, while another S$0.2M was utilised on Lift
Surveillance Systems (LSS) and bicycle sheds*.
*Approximately S$0.7M were spent on General & Administrative (G&A Expenses) for Town
Improvement Projects.

UPGRADING
PROJECTS
Neighbourhood Renewal Programme (NRP)
Since its introduction in 2007, the Neighbourhood Renewal
Programme (NRP) focuses on block and neighbourhood
improvements through active engagement and participation of
residents in shaping their living environment through public
consultation and consensus gathering exercises.
Fully funded by the Government and implemented by the Town
Council, our residents can have a voice and play a part in enhancing
their own home surroundings’ connectivity, accessibility and
landscaping, through additions of new common facilities such as
covered linkways, fitness corners and barrier-free access ramps
among others.
The NRP for Blocks 440 to 461 Pasir Ris Drive 4/6 remains on track
for their slated completion. When fully completed, residents can look
forward to upgraded barrier-free access ramps at Seashell Park and
covered linkway from existing pedestrian overhead bridge to Block
442.

SCHEDULED
CYCLICAL WORKS
Sinking Fund (SF) & Lift Replacement Fund (LRF)
Scheduling cyclical works is integral to keeping our estates well
maintained, and key facilities in optimal condition. The scope of works
include lift works, R&R, replacement of water pump sets, water pipes
and water tanks.
In FY2019/20, a total of S$20.1M was spent on cyclical works. R&R
took up around S$6.1M, where the facade walls of blocks are cleaned
thoroughly, and given a fresh coat of paint in the choice of colour
scheme voted in by the local residents. Some S$2.8M million was
spent on the replacement of water and booster pump sets, and refuse
handling equipment. Re-roofing and rewiring work took around another
S$10.2M to ensure better energy efficiency and safety for our
residents*. Other repairs are also concurrently done to ensure that the
block looks as good as new.
*Approximately S$0.9M were spent on G&A Expenses for Scheduled Cyclical Works.

SCHEDULED
CYCLICAL WORKS
Lift Cyclical Works
The Lift Replacement Fund is utilised for cyclical lift works, such as
major lift upgrading and lift renewal, installation or replacement of
video monitoring devices in lifts, major lift replacements and lift-related
replacement works. Operational need and long-term capital
expenditure requirement for lift replacements and lift-related works are
high, and our Town Council taps on two of the Ministry of National
Development’s additional grants-in-aids, namely Lift Maintenance
Grant (LMG) and Lift Replacement Fund (LRF) Matching Grant to
defray the high costs, wherever possible.
In FY2019/20, a total of around S$13.2M was spent on lift cyclical
works of which S$5.8M million was spent on replacement of lifts’ main
sheaves and ropes, replacement of Automatic Rescue Device and
Emergency Battery Operation Power Supply batteries, replacement of
lift position display panel and inverter units. Some S$1.1M million was
spent on lift overhaul works. Selective Lift Replacement Programme
(SLRP) accounted for around $3.5M, while Lift Enhancement
Programme (LEP) utilised about S$1.7M*.
* Approximately S$1.1M were spent on G&A Expenses for Lift Cyclical Works.

COMMUNITY
ENGAGEMENT
INITIATIVES
Keep Clean Singapore! And Cleaners' Appreciation Day
As part of the National Clean & Green Singapore initiative and the
Keep SG Clean Movement, we rallied residents and grassroots
volunteers to walk in the shoes of our cleaners for a day, and to
understand first-hand the amount of effort required to maintain the
cleanliness of our estates on a daily basis. Each of the divisions, led
by their local MP, combed their neighbourhood for litter and in turn,
send out a strong message that keeping our estates clean is
everyone’s responsibility. The total amount of trash collected came up
to 11 kg.
We also took the opportunity to show appreciation to our conservancy
cleaners by treating them to a sumptuous lunch, and presented them
with gift vouchers in appreciation for their tireless work.

COMMUNITY
ENGAGEMENT
INITIATIVES
Annual Tree Planting Day
This year, we planted seven Jelutong tree saplings at Block 126D
Edgedale Plains Common Green on 1 December 2019. This native
tree can grow over 30m, and more than 60m in its natural setting, with
a huge lofty crown of broad leaves that makes for an attractive form in
parks and open spaces. Our wish is that these resilient trees can grow
together with Punggol New Town, and become a heritage story for
generations to come.
As part of the event, seven families were invited to participate in the
planting activities. This is part of our continued efforts to involve
residents, so they could play a more active role in greening of the
community.
After the planting event, residents, both young and old, were treated to
an array of nostalgic food and carnival game booths, as well as fun
activities.

COMMUNITY
ENGAGEMENT
We recognize the importance of regular community engagement with
our residents. Our quarterly newsletter, VIBES, continues to feature
locally sourced stories featuring our residents, and updated municipal
news to our residents. We also utilise our new Facebook page to keep
them informed of the estates and its developments.

CONCLUSION
A Note of Appreciation
I would like to express my sincere gratitude to my parliamentary
colleagues, the Town Councillors, community and grassroots
organisations, various government and statutory agencies for their
dedication and continued support in our endeavour to provide the best
for our residents.
I would also like to extend my appreciation to my residents, for their
valuable support and feedback.
On behalf of all my colleagues, thank you for the opportunity to serve
you.

Zainal Sapari
Chairman
Pasir Ris - Punggol Town Council

PASIR RIS - PUNGGOL TOWN COUNCIL
STATEMENT OF INCOME AND EXPENDITURE
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020

Operating income
Conservancy and service fees
Less: Operating income transfer to Sinking Fund
(minimum required by law)
Less: Operating income transfer to Lift Replacement Fund
(minimum required by law)

Agency fees
Other income

Less: Operating expenditure
Cleaning works
Managing agent’s fees
Lift maintenance
Other works and maintenance
Water and electricity
General and administrative expenditure

Note

2020
S$

2019
S$

4

96,793,210

95,755,594

5

(25,166,249)

(24,896,466)

6

(13,551,042)

(13,405,776)

16
17

58,075,919
9,061,620
4,486,109

57,453,352
9,080,592
4,270,188

71,623,648

70,804,132

(12,246,433)
(10,450,150)
(13,368,810)
(8,814,819)
(22,726,420)
(4,717,048)
(72,323,680)

(12,386,102)
(10,013,598)
(12,878,737)
(8,738,518)
(20,777,872)
(3,570,832)
(68,365,659)

(700,032)
619,658

2,438,473
407,929

(80,374)
(394,619)

2,846,402
(373,029)

(474,993)

2,473,373

18

19

Operating (deficit)/surplus
Add: Interest income
(Deficit)/Surplus before government grants and income tax
Less: Income tax

20

(Deficit)/Surplus before government grants
Government grants
Less: Transfer to
− Sinking fund – Grants & GST subvention
− Lift Replacement fund – Grants & GST subvention
− Lift Replacement fund (“LRF”) Matching Grant
− Town Improvement and Project fund (“TIPF”)

21

25,264,818

33,466,622

5 & 21
6 & 21
6 & 21
7 & 21

(3,610,426)
(1,944,071)
(7,750,737)
(3,627,857)
(16,933,091)

(3,517,084)
(1,893,811)
(16,168,681)
(3,770,713)
(25,350,289)

7,856,734

10,589,706
14,531,521

SURPLUS FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR
Add: Accumulated surplus as at 1 April

4

14,065,118

Less: Appropriation to Town Improvement & Project Fund

7

-

(4,056,109)

Less: Lift Replacement Fund – voluntary contribution

6

-

(7,000,000)

Accumulated surplus as at 31 March

21,921,852

7

14,065,118

PASIR RIS - PUNGGOL TOWN COUNCIL
STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020

Surplus/(Deficit) for the financial year
– Accumulated Surplus
– Sinking Fund
– Lift Replacement Fund
– Town Improvement and Project Fund
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE
FINANCIAL YEAR ATTRIBUTABLE TO TOWN COUNCIL FUNDS

8

Note

2020
S$

2019
S$

4
5
6
7

7,856,734
10,707,998
13,051,583
(2,225,644)

10,589,706
9,939,984
23,453,195
(322,401)

29,390,671

43,660,484

PASIR RIS - PUNGGOL TOWN COUNCIL
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN FUNDS
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020

Residential
Property
S$
Balance at 1 April 2018
Surplus for the financial year, representing total comprehensive
income for the financial year
Transfer of surplus from Carpark to Residential Property
Balance at 31 March 2019
Surplus for the financial year, representing total comprehensive
income for the financial year
Transfer of surplus from Carpark to Residential Property
Balance at 31 March 2020

9

Commercial
Property
S$

Carpark
S$

Total
S$

127,272,842

14,616,790

-

141,889,632

39,962,852

912,294

2,785,338

43,660,484

2,785,338

-

(2,785,338)

-

170,021,032

15,529,084

-

185,550,116

25,941,949

919,172

2,529,550

29,390,671

2,529,550

-

(2,529,550)

-

198,492,531

16,448,256

-

214,940,787

PASIR RIS - PUNGGOL TOWN COUNCIL
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020

Note
Operating activities
(Deficit)/Surplus before government grants and income tax
Adjustments for:
Depreciation of plant and equipment
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment
Lease Interest Expenses
Allowance for doubtful debts
Bad debts written off
Interest income
Amortisation of bonds
Conservancy and service fees transferred to Sinking fund
Conservancy and service fees transferred to Lift
Replacement fund
Operating cash flows before movements in working capital
Receivables
Payables and accrued expenses
Cash generated from operations
Income tax paid
Sinking fund expenditure, net
Sinking fund Income, net
Lift Replacement fund expenditure, net
Neighbourhood Renewal Programme expenditure, net
Town Improvement and Project fund expenditure, net
Net cash used in operating activities
Investing activities
Purchase of plant and equipment
Interest income received
Investment in bonds
Investment in fixed deposits
Redemption of bonds
Net cash used in investing activities

9
9
10
19
19

4&5
4&6

5
5
6
8
7

9

Financing activities
Repayment of lease liability
Government grants received
Funding received for Neighbourhood Renewal Programme
Selective Lift Replacement Programme disbursement
Lift Enhancement Programme Advances from HDB
Net cash generated from financing activities

4
8
6
6

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the financial year
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the financial year

10

14

2020
S$

2019
S$

(80,374)

2,846,402

350,697
300
28,158
750,364
116
(619,658)
(3,038)
25,166,249

89,806
192,308
496
(407,929)
5,025
24,896,466

13,551,042
39,143,856
2,750,440
3,192,282
45,086,578

13,405,776
41,028,350
(4,785,890)
1,778,812
38,021,272

(636,525)
(20,089,779)
104,800
(13,265,826)
(7,106,882)
(5,853,501)
(1,761,135)

(632,731)
(20,215,710)
(10,452,412)
(2,695,968)
(4,093,114)
(68,663)

(148,393)
3,836,748
(10,500,000)
(27,885,307)
(34,696,952)

(8,942)
2,714,295
(25,000,000)
(31,111,693)
12,000,000
(41,406,340)

(322,800)
25,264,818
6,126,229
845,066
834,478
32,747,791

33,466,622
3,906,357
1,776,992
39,149,971

(3,710,296)
18,303,801

(2,325,032)
20,628,833

14,593,505

18,303,801

PASIR RIS - PUNGGOL TOWN COUNCIL
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities
Non-cash movements
1 April 2019

Financing
cash flows

S$

S$

Acquisition

Expenditure

31 March 2020

S$

S$

Liabilities
Advances received for Neighbourhood
Renewal Programme
Lease liability

1,784,779

6,126,229

-

(7,106,882)

804,126

457,005

(322,800)

249,308

28,158

411,671

Non-cash
movements
1 April 2018

Financing
cash flows

Expenditure

31 March 2019

S$

S$

S$

S$

Liabilities
Advances received for Neighbourhood
Renewal Programme

574,390

3,906,357

Other financing cash flows relate to movements in funds of the Town Council.

11

(2,695,968)

1,784,779

PASIR RIS - PUNGGOL TOWN COUNCIL
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020

These notes form an integral part of and should be read in conjunction with the accompanying financial
statements.

1.

General information
Pasir Ris - Punggol Town Council ("the Town Council") was formed on 13 November 2001 under the
Town Councils Act (Chapter 329A). The registered office of the Town Council is located at Block 577
Pasir Ris Street 53, #01-88, Singapore 510577.
The principal functions of the Town Council are to control, manage, maintain and improve the common
property of residential and other commercial property in the housing estates of the Housing and
Development Board (“HDB”) within the Town.
By virtue of a writ of election issued on 24 August 2015, the electoral boundaries of Pasir Ris - Punggol
Town Council were redrawn. With effect from 1 December 2015, certain residential and commercial
property units under the jurisdiction of Pasir Ris - Punggol Town Council were transferred to Ang Mo
Kio Town Council and residential and commercial property units of Punggol East Single Member
Constituency ("SMC") under the jurisdiction of the former Aljunied-Hougang-Punggol East Town Council
were transferred to Pasir Ris - Punggol Town Council.
The financial statements of the Town Council include the results of Punggol East SMC with effect from
1 December 2015.
The financial statements for the financial year ended 31 March 2020 were authorised for issue in
accordance with a resolution of the Town Council 21 October 2020.

2.

Summary of significant accounting policies

2.1

Basis of preparation
The financial statements have been drawn up in accordance with the provisions of the Singapore
Financial Reporting Standards (“FRS”) including all related Interpretations of the FRS (“INT FRS”) and are
prepared on the historical cost basis, except as disclosed in the accounting policies below.
The financial statements of the Town Council are measured and presented in the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the Town Council operates (its functional currency). The
financial statements of the Town Council are presented in Singapore dollars (“S$ or SGD”), which is also
the functional currency of the Town Council.
In the current financial year, the Town Council has adopted all the new and revised FRS and INT FRS that
are relevant to its operations and effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 April 2019. The
adoption of these new or revised FRS and INT FRS did not result in changes to the Town Council’s
accounting policies and has no material effect on the amounts reported for the current or prior financial
years.
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PASIR RIS - PUNGGOL TOWN COUNCIL
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020

2.

Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued)

2.1

Basis of preparation (Continued)
FRS and INT FRS issued but not yet effective
At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, the following FRSs and INT FRS that were
issued but not yet effective:

FRS
FRS 1, FRS 8
FRS 103
FRS 109, FRS 39,
FRS 107
FRS 116
FRS117
FRS 16
FRS 37
FRS 103
FRS 1
FRS 110, FRS 28
Various

Various

Effective date
(annual periods
beginning on or
after)

Description
Amendments to FRS 1 and FRS 8: Definition of Material
Amendments to FRS 103: Definition of a Business
Amendments to FRS 109, FRS 39 and FRS 107:
Interest Rate Benchmark Reform
Amendment to FRS 116: Covid-19-Related Rent
Concessions
Insurance Contracts
Amendments to FRS 16: Property, Plant and
Equipment – Proceeds before Intended Use
Amendments to FRS 37: Onerous contracts – Cost
of Fulfilling a Contract
Amendments to FRS 103: Reference to the
Conceptual Framework
Amendments to FRS 1: Classification of Liabilities
as Current or Non-current
Amendments to FRS 110 and FRS 28: Sale or
Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture
Amendments to References to the Conceptual
Framework in FRS Standards
Amendments to illustrative examples, implementation
guidance and FRS practice statements
Annual Improvements to FRSs 2018-2020

1 January 2020
1 January 2020
1 January 2020
1 June 2020
1 January 2021
1 January 2022
1 January 2022
1 January 2022
1 January 2023
To be
determined
1 January 2020

1 January 2022

Consequential amendments were also made to various standards as a result of these new or revised
standards.
The Town Council does not intend to early adopt any of the above new or revised standards,
interpretations and amendments to the existing standards. Other than the following standards,
management anticipates that the adoption of the aforementioned new or revised standards will not
have a material impact on the financial statements of the Town Council in the period of their initial
adoption.
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PASIR RIS - PUNGGOL TOWN COUNCIL
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020

2.

Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued)

2.2

Town Council funds
In accordance with Section 33(1) of the Act, separate funds are established to account for the
management of the different types of properties. The types of properties currently under the
management of the Town Council are as follows:
Residential Property
Commercial Property
Car parks are managed by the Town Council for the HDB on an agency basis.
These routine funds related to properties under management, together with Sinking fund, Town
Improvement and Project fund and Lift Replacement fund form the Town Council funds.
All moneys received by the Town Council are paid into and related expenditure is met out of the
appropriate funds set up for each property type managed.
Assets and liabilities of the various funds of the Town Council are pooled in the statement of financial
position.
Sinking fund
In accordance with Section 33(4) of the Act, Sinking fund (“SF”) is established for improvement to,
management and maintenance of residential and commercial properties. This fund is maintained as
part of the Town Council funds.
Under the Act, the Minister for National Development may, from time to time, prescribe the minimum
amounts of conservancy and service fees and grants-in-aid to be paid into the Sinking fund.
With effect from 1 April 2017, the amounts to be paid into the Sinking fund were revised and the
minimum amounts to be paid, by property type, into the Sinking fund are as follows:

(i)
(ii)
(iii)

Property Type
1-room to Executive
Shop with living accommodation
Commercial property

Percentage
26% of the conservancy and service fees and grants-in-aid
26% of the conservancy and service fees and grants-in-aid
26% of the conservancy and service fees and grants-in-aid

These minimum contributions are treated as operating income transfers and are deducted from
conservancy and service fees and government grants in the statement of income and expenditure.
The Lift Replacement fund Matching Grant is not subject to the minimum contribution rates to Sinking
fund, even though it is a grants-in-aid.
The Sinking fund is utilised for cyclical major repainting, renewal or replacement of roofing system,
water tanks, pumps and water supply system, lightning protection system, installation of any sensor
and starter controller to the time-controlled booster pumping system, major repairs and maintenance
of the common area and contributions to the HDB in respect of general upgrading works carried out on
the common property as defined under the Housing and Development Act.
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PASIR RIS - PUNGGOL TOWN COUNCIL
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020

2.

Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued)

2.2

Town Council funds (Continued)
Lift Replacement fund
In accordance to Section 33(4A) of the Act, Lift Replacement fund (“LRF”) is established from 1 April
2017, to meet the cost of lift replacements and lift-related replacement works. This fund is maintained
as part of the Town Council funds.
Under the Act, the Minister of National Development may, from time to time, prescribe the minimum
amounts of conservancy and service fees and grants-in-aid to be paid into the Lift Replacement fund.
The minimum amounts to be paid, by property type, into the Lift Replacement fund are as follows:
(i)
(ii)
(iii)

1-room to Executive
Shop with living accommodation
Commercial property

14% of the conservancy and service fees and grants-in-aid
14% of the conservancy and service fees and grants-in-aid
14% of the conservancy and service fees and grants-in-aid

These minimum contributions are treated as operating income transfers and are deducted from
conservancy and service fees and government grants in the statement of income and expenditure.
The Lift Replacement fund is utilised for cyclical works, including major lift upgrading and lift renewal,
installation or replacement of any video monitoring devices in lifts, major lift replacements and liftrelated replacement works. To help Town Councils to cope with the operating need and long-term
capital expenditure requirement for lift replacements and lift-related works, the Ministry of National
Development provides two additional grants-in-aids, namely Lift Maintenance Grant (LMG) and LRF
Matching Grant, from 1 April 2017. The LRF Matching Grant is not subject to the minimum contribution
rates to LRF, even though it is a grants-in-aid.
Town Improvement and Project fund
Town Improvement and Project fund (“TIPF”) is established and maintained as part of the Town Council
funds. This fund is utilised for improvement and development works in the Town.
TIPF comprise the amounts set aside for projects to be carried out in the next financial year. All
expenditures on town improvement and projects are appropriated from these reserves.
The fund is set up by transfer of funds from the accumulated surplus to fund specific projects to be
carried out. In addition, the Town Council receives funding for approved projects under the Community
Improvement Projects Committee (“CIPC”) scheme. These funds are paid through the Citizens’
Consultative Committees (“CCC”).
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PASIR RIS - PUNGGOL TOWN COUNCIL
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020

2.

Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued)

2.3

Inter-funds transfers
The Town Councils may make inter-fund transfers with the criteria set out/when needed in accordance
to Sections 33(9) and 43(1)(i) of the Town Councils Act and Rule 11A of the Town Councils Financial
Rules.

2.4

Allocation of general overheads
Expenditure not specifically related to any property type managed, for example, administrative
overheads, tree planting and pruning are allocated to the various property types using equivalent
dwelling units as follows:
Property Type

Equivalent Dwelling Unit(s)

1 Residential Property Unit
1 Commercial Property Unit
6 Car Lots or 36 Motor Cycle Lots or 4 Lorry Lots

1
2
1

The general overheads for operating expenditure are allocated to Sinking fund and Lift Replacement
fund at end of financial year as follows:
(i)
3% to the Sinking fund (2019: 3%)
(ii)
2% to the Lift Replacement fund (2019: 2%)
(iii)
No overheads are allocated to Town Improvement and Project Fund
2.5

Plant and equipment
Plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment
losses. The cost of plant and equipment includes its purchase price and any costs directly attributable
to bringing the asset to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the
manner intended by management. Dismantlement, removal or restoration costs are included as part of
the cost of plant and equipment if the obligation for dismantlement, removal or restoration is incurred
as a consequence of acquiring or using the plant and equipment.
Subsequent expenditure relating to plant and equipment are added to the carrying amount of the asset
only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the asset will flow to the Town
Council and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are
charged to income & expenditure when incurred.
Depreciation is charged so as to write off the cost of assets over their estimated useful lives, using the
straight-line method, on the following bases:
• Office renovation
• Furniture and fittings
• Office equipment

5 years
5 years
1 year to 5 years

For right-of-use assets for which ownership of the underlying asset is not transferred to the Town
Council by the end of the lease term, depreciation is charged over the lease term, using the straightline method. The lease period is disclosed in Note 10.
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PASIR RIS - PUNGGOL TOWN COUNCIL
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020

2.

Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued)

2.5

Plant and equipment (Continued)
The carrying values of plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable.
The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation methods are reviewed, and adjusted as
appropriate, at the end of each financial year.
The gain or loss, being the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset,
arising on disposal or retirement of an item of plant and equipment is recognised in income &
expenditure.
Fully depreciated plant and equipment are retained in the financial statements until they are no longer
in use.

2.6

Impairment of tangible assets
The Town Council reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible assets as at each reporting date to assess
for any indication of impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset
is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). Where it is not possible
to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Town Council estimates the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.
The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is the higher of its fair value less costs to
sell and its value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to
their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the asset.
An impairment loss for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds the recoverable
amount is recognised immediately in income & expenditure, unless the relevant asset is carried at a
revalued amount, in which case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease.
Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (cash-generating
unit) is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, so that the increased carrying
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined which has no
impairment loss recognised for the asset (cash-generating unit) in prior financial years. A reversal of an
impairment loss is recognised immediately in income & expenditure, unless the relevant asset is carried
at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation
increase.
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2.

Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued)

2.7

Financial instruments
The Town Council recognises a financial asset or a financial liability in its statement of financial position
when, and only when, the Town Council becomes party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.
Effective interest method
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial instrument
and allocating the interest income or expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the
rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts or payments (including all fees on points paid
or received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other
premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the financial instrument, or where appropriate, a
shorter period, to the net carrying amount of the financial instrument. Income and expense are
recognised on an effective interest basis for debt instruments other than those financial instruments at
fair value through income & expenditure.
Financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement
All financial assets are recognised on trade date – the date on which the Town Council commits to
purchase or sell the asset. With the exception of conservancy and service fees receivables that do not
contain a significant financing component or for which the Town Council applies a practical expedient,
all financial assets are initially measured at fair value, plus transaction costs, except for those financial
assets classified as at fair value through income & expenditure, which are initially measured at fair value.
Such conservancy and service fees receivables that do not contain a significant financing component or
for which the Town Council applies a practical expedient are measured at transaction price as defined
in FRS 115.
Financial assets are classified as subsequently measured at amortised cost. The classification at initial
recognition depends on the Town Council’s business model for managing the financial assets and the
contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial asset.
The Town Council’s business model refers to how the Town Council manages its financial assets in order
to generate cash flows which determines whether cash flows will result from collecting contractual cash
flows, selling financial assets or both.
The Town Council determines whether the asset’s contractual cash flows are solely payments of
principal and interest (“SPPI”) on the principal amount outstanding to determine the classification of
the financial assets.
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2.

Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued)

2.7

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Financial assets at amortised cost
A financial asset is subsequently measured at amortised cost if the financial asset is held within a
business model whose objective is to hold financial assets in order to collect contractual cash flows and
the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.
Subsequent to initial recognition, the financial asset at amortised cost are measured using the effective
interest method and is subject to impairment. Gains or losses are recognised in income & expenditure
when the asset is derecognised, modified or impaired.
Impairment of financial assets
The Town Council recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses (“ECL”) on financial assets
measured at amortised cost and debt instruments measured at FVTOCI. At each reporting date, the
Town Council assesses whether the credit risk on a financial asset has increased significantly since initial
recognition by assessing the change in the risk of a default occurring over the expected life of the
financial instrument. Where the financial asset is determined to have low credit risk at the reporting
date, the Town Council assumes that the credit risk on a financial assets has not increased significantly
since initial recognition.
The Town Council uses reasonable and supportable forward-looking information that is available
without undue cost or effort as well as past due information when determining whether credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition.
Where the credit risk on that financial instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition,
the Town Council measures the loss allowance for a financial instrument at an amount equal to the
lifetime ECL. Where the credit risk on that financial instrument has not increased significantly since
initial recognition, the Town Council measures the loss allowance for that financial instrument at an
amount equal to 12-month ECL.
The Town Council uses a practical expedient to recognise the ECL for conservancy and service fees
receivables, which is to measure the loss allowance at an amount equal to lifetime ECL using an
allowance matrix derived based on historical credit loss experience adjusted for current conditions and
forecasts of future economic conditions.
The amount of ECL or reversal thereof that is required to adjust the loss allowance at the reporting date
to the amount that is required to be recognised is recognised in income & expenditure.
While they are not financial assets, contract assets arising from the Town Council’s contracts with
customers under FRS 115 are assessed for impairment in accordance with FRS 109, similar to that of
conservancy and service fees receivables.
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2.

Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued)

2.7

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
The Town Council directly reduces the gross carrying amount of a financial asset when the entity has
no reasonable expectations of recovering a financial asset in its entirety or a portion thereof.
For details on the Town Council’s accounting policy for its impairment of financial assets, refer to Note
26.
Derecognition of financial assets
The Town Council derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from
the financial asset expire, or it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the asset to another entity. If the Town Council neither transfers nor retains substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset and continues to control the transferred
asset, the Town Council recognises its retained interest in the asset and an associated liability for
amounts it may have to pay. If the Town Council retains substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Town Council continues to recognise the financial asset
and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds receivables.
Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement
All financial liabilities are recognised on trade date – the date on which the Town Council commits to
purchase or sell the asset. All financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value, minus transaction
costs, except for those financial liabilities classified as at fair value through income & expenditure, which
are initially measured at fair value.
Financial liabilities are classified as either financial liabilities at fair value through income & expenditure
or other financial liabilities.
Financial liabilities are classified as at fair value through income & expenditure if the financial liability is
either held for trading or it is designated as such upon initial recognition. Financial liabilities classified
as at fair value through income & expenditure comprise derivatives that are not designated or do not
qualify for hedge accounting.
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2.

Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued)

2.7

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities (Continued)
Other financial liabilities
Payables and accrued expenses
Payables and accrued expenses are initially measured at fair value, net of transaction costs, and are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, where applicable, using the effective interest method, with
interest expense recognised on an effective yield basis. A gain or loss is recognised in income &
expenditure when the liability is derecognised and through the amortisation process.
Derecognition of financial liabilities
The Town Council derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Town Council’s obligations
are discharged, cancelled or they expire.
Offsetting of financial instruments
A financial asset and a financial liability shall be offset, and the net amount presented in the statement
of financial position when, and only when, an entity:
(a)
(b)

2.8

Currently has a legally enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts; and
Intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits with financial institutions that
are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in
value. For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents exclude deposits
pledged with the financial institutions as collateral and which form an integral part of the Town
Council’s cash management.

2.9

Leases
The Town Council applied FRS 116 using the modified retrospective approach and therefore the
comparative information has not been restated. Accordingly, the comparative information was
prepared and disclosures made in accordance with the requirements of FRS 17 Leases (“FRS 17”) and
INT FRS 104 Determining whether an arrangement contains a lease.
The Town Council as a lessee from 1 April 2019
These accounting policies are applied on and after the initial application date of FRS 116 (i.e. 1 April
2019).
At inception of a contract, the Town Council assessed whether the contract is, or contains, a lease. A
contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset
for a period of time in exchange for consideration.
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2.

Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued)

2.9

Leases (Continued)
The Town Council as a lessee from 1 April 2019 (Continued)
Where a contract contains more than one lease component, the Town Council allocates the
consideration in the contract to each lease component on the basis of the relative standalone price of
the lease component. Where the contract contains non-lease components, the Town Council applied
the practical expedient not to separate non-lease components from lease components, and instead
account for each lease component and any associated non-lease components as a single lease
component.
The Town Council recognises a right-of-use assets and lease liability at the lease commencement date
for all lease arrangement for which the Town Council is the lessee, except for leases which have lease
term of 12 months or less and leases of low value assets for which the Town Council applied the
recognition exemption allowed under FRS 116. For these leases, the Town Council recognises the lease
payment as an operating expense on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.
The right-of-use assets is initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount of the lease
liability adjusted for any lease payments made at or before the commencement date, less any lease
incentives received, plus any initial direct costs incurred and an estimate of costs to dismantle and
remove the underlying asset or to restore the underlying asset or the site on which it is located.
The right-of-use assets is subsequently depreciated using the straight-line method from the
commencement date to the end of the lease term. When the lease transfers ownership of the
underlying asset to the Town Council by the end of the lease term or the cost of the right-of-use assets
reflects that the Town Council will exercise a purchase option, the right-of-use assets will be
depreciated over the useful life of the underlying asset, which is determined on the same basis as those
of property, plant and equipment. The right-of-use assets is also reduced by impairment losses, if any,
and adjusted for certain remeasurements of the lease liability, where applicable.
Right-of-use asset is presented within “property, plant, and equipment”.
The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at
the commencement date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot
be readily determined, the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate.
The Town Council generally uses the incremental borrowing rate as the discount rate. To determine the
incremental borrowing rate, the Town Council obtains a reference rate and makes certain adjustments
to reflect the terms of the lease and the asset leased.
The lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise the following:
-

fixed payments, including in-substance fixed payments less any lease incentive receivable,
variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, initially measured using the index or rate
as at the commencement date,
amounts expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee,
the exercise price under a purchase option that the Town Council is reasonably certain to exercise,
and
payments of penalties for terminating the lease if the Town Council is reasonably certain to
terminate early and lease payments for an optional renewal period if the Town Council is reasonably
certain to exercise an extension option.
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Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued)

2.9

Leases (Continued)
The Town Council as a lessee from 1 April 2019 (Continued)
The lease liability is measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. The Town Council
remeasures the lease liability when there is a change in the lease term due to a change in assessment
of whether it will exercise a termination or extension or purchase option or due to a change in future
lease payment resulting from a change in an index or a rate used to determine those payment.
Where there is a remeasurement of the lease liability, a corresponding adjustment is made to the rightof-use assets or in profit or loss where there is a further reduction in the measurement of the lease
liability and the carrying amount of the right-of-use assets is reduced to zero.
The Town Council as a lessee before 1 April 2019
At the lease commencement date, the Town Council assess and classify each lease as either a finance
lease or operating lease.
Operating Leases
Rentals payable under operating leases are charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the
term of the relevant lease unless another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern
in which economic benefits from the leased asset are consumed. Contingent rentals arising under
operating leases are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.
In the event that lease incentives are received to enter into operating leases, such incentives are
recognised as a liability. The aggregate benefit of incentives is recognised as a reduction of rental
expense on a straight-line basis, except where another systematic basis is more representative of the
time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased asset are consumed.

2.10

Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Town Council has a present legal or constructive obligation as a
result of a past event, it is probable that the Town Council will be required to settle the obligation, and
a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.
The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the
present obligation at the end of the financial year, taking into account the risks and uncertainties
surrounding the obligation. Where a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the
present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows, which is discounted
using a pre-tax discount rate.
When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered
from a third party, the receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursement
will be received and the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.
Changes in the estimated timing or amount of the expenditure or discount rate are recognised in
income and expenditure as they arise.
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Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued)

2.11 Government grants
For the past years, The Town Council receives three types of grants from the government; namely;
Service and Conservancy Charges (“S&CC”) operating grant, payments from Citizens’ Consultation
Committee (“CCC”) and GST Subvention Grant. From 1 April 2017, the Ministry of National
Development provided two additional grants-in-aids, namely Lift Maintenance Grant (“LMG”) and Lift
Replacement fund (“LRF”) Matching Grant to the Town Council.
(i)

S&CC operating grants to meet the current financial year’s operating expenditure are taken to
the statement of income and expenditure and other comprehensive income.

(ii)

Payments from CCCs are granted to provide funding support for community improvement
projects under the CIPC scheme.

(iii)

The GST Subvention is given as grants-in-aid to the Town Council to assist the Town Council in
absorbing the GST increases in service and conservancy charges for HDB residential flats.

(iv)

LMG and LRF Matching Grant are granted to help Town Councils to cope with the operating need
and long-term capital expenditure requirement for the higher lift-related service and
maintenance cost.

Lift Replacement fund Matching Grant
To assist Town Councils in building up the Lift Replacement fund (“LRF”), MND will provide a 50%
matching grant to the following contributions Town Councils make to the LRF:
o

Quarterly contributions to LRF from S&CC collections and other grants-in-aid, including voluntary
contributions beyond the minimum LRF contribution rate (i.e. beyond the minimum 14%); and

o

Voluntary contribution of operating fund surpluses to the LRF at the end of a financial year, as
allowed under Section 33(9) of the amended Town Council Act.

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there is reasonable assurance that the grant
will be received and all attaching conditions will be complied with. Where the grant relates to an asset,
the fair value is recognised as deferred capital grant on the statement of financial position and is
amortised to income & expenditure over the expected useful life of the relevant asset by equal annual
instalment.
2.12 Selective Lift Replacement Programme Disbursement
This represents advances received from HDB under the Selective Lift Replacement Programme (SLRP)
to help replace the selected lifts with modern lifts that come with more energy-efficient motors, vision
panels and infra-red doors with motion safety sensors for added energy efficiency, safety and security.
These lifts were installed between 1992 and 2001, and are in blocks that are already barrier-free and
do not need upgrading under the Lift Upgrading Programme (LUP).
HDB will co-fund 50% of the lift replacement cost (capped at $125,000 per lift). The co-funding will be
disbursed in two stages:
(a) 25% of Lift Replacement Cost (capped at $62,500) upon award of contract
(b) 25% of Lift Replacement Cost (capped at $62,500) at the completion of Lift Replacement
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Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued)

2.13 Recognition of income
The income amount is the fair value of the consideration received or receivable from the gross inflow
of economic benefits during the year arising from the course of the ordinary activities of the Town
Council and it is shown net of related tax and rebates.
The following income revenues arises in the course of the ordinary activities of the Town Council.
(i)

Conservancy and service fees are recognised when due and payable, in accordance with the then
applicable conservancy and service rates.

(ii)

Agency fees are fees received for routine maintenance of HDB’s carparks and common property
within the Town, and are recognised when due and payable. The fees are measured based on the
consideration to which the Town Council expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring the
promised services to the counterparty, excluding amounts collected on behalf of third parties, if
applicable. It is recognised when or as the Town Council satisfies a performance obligation by
transferring a promised service to the counterparty, which is when or as the counterparty obtains
control of the service.

(iii) Interest income from fixed deposits and bonds is recognised using the effective interest method.
(iv) Income from funds placed with fund managers is recognised in the income and expenditure
statement/Sinking fund/Lift Replacement fund.
(v)

Other income comprises mainly temporary occupation licenses (“TOL”), liquidated damages and
other miscellaneous income and are recognised when due.

2.14 Income tax
Tax is provided on the following income:
(i)

Income derived from investments and bank deposits;

(ii)

Fees, rent and other charges received from non-residents or non-owners of properties in the
Town for the use of common property and maintenance of carparks where the Town Council
opts to manage and maintain them; and

(iii)

Agency fees derived from acting as agent for the HDB.

Income tax is accounted using the asset and liability method that requires the recognition of taxes
payable or refundable for the current financial year and deferred tax liabilities and assets for the future
tax consequence of events that have been recognised in the financial statements or tax returns. The
measurements of current and deferred tax liabilities and assets are based on provisions of the enacted
or substantially enacted tax laws, and the effects of future changes in tax laws or rates are not
anticipated. Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when they relate to income taxes levied by the same income
tax authority.
In respect of government grants received, the Town Council has been granted remission under Section
92(2) of the Income Tax Act (Cap. 134).
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Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued)

2.15 Contingencies
A contingent liability is:
(i)
a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed only by
the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the
control of the Town Council; or
(ii)

a present obligation that arises from past events but is not recognised because:
(a)
it is not probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be
required to settle the obligation; or
(b)
the amount of the obligation cannot be measured with sufficient reliability.

A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed
only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the
control of the Town Council.

3.

Critical accounting judgments and key sources of estimation uncertainty
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with FRSs requires Town Council to make
judgments, estimates and assumptions of the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not
readily apparent from other sources in the application of the Town Council’s accounting policies.
Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other
factors that are considered to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results could differ from
those estimates.

3.1

Critical judgements made in applying the Town Council’s accounting policies
Investments in bonds
The Town Council follows the guidance of FRS 109 Financial Instruments (“FRS 109”) on classifying nonderivatives financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturity as financial assets
at amortised cost. This classification requires significant judgement. In making this judgement, the
Town Council evaluates its intention and ability to hold such investments to maturity.
If the Town Council is unable to keep these investments to maturity other than for specific
circumstances explained in FRS 109, it will be required to reclassify the whole class as financial assets
through Other Comprehensive Income. The investments would therefore be measured at fair value and
not amortised cost. The carrying amount of the Town Council’s investments in bonds as at 31 March
2020 is S$83,051,859 (2019: S$72,548,821) (Note 11).

26

PASIR RIS - PUNGGOL TOWN COUNCIL
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020

3.

Critical accounting judgments and key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

3.2

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below.
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
The Town Council depreciates the plant and equipment over their estimated useful life after taking into
account of their estimated residual values. The estimated useful life reflects management’s estimate of
the period that the Town Council intends to derive future economic benefits from the use of the Town
Council’s plant and equipment. The residual value reflects management’s estimated amount that the
Town Council would currently obtain from the disposal of the asset, after deducting the estimated costs
of disposal, as if the asset were already of the age and in the condition expected at the end of its useful
life. Changes in the expected level of usage and technological developments could affect the economics,
useful life and the residual values of these assets which could then consequentially impact future
depreciation charges. The carrying amount of the Town Council’s property plant and equipment as at
31 March 2020 is S$574,811 (2019: S$71,102) (Note 9).
Measurement of ECL of conservancy and service fees receivables
The Town Council uses the practical expedient under FRS 109 in the form of allowance matrix to
measure the ECL for conservancy and service fees receivables, where the loss allowance is equal to
lifetime ECL.
The ECL for conservancy and service fees receivables are estimated using an allowance matrix with fixed
provision rates depending on the number of months that conservancy and service fees are past due
with reference to the recommended guidelines by MND that are assessed by property type and
household profile, and adjusted for forward looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic
environment which could affect the ability of the debtors to settle the financial assets.
The Town Council adjusts the allowance matrix at each reporting date. Such estimation of the ECL rates
may not be representative of the actual default in the future. The expected loss allowance on the Town
Council’s conservancy and service fees receivables as at 31 March 2020 is S$3,793,967 (2019:
S$3,562,413) (Note 12).
Provision for income tax
The Town Council is subject to income taxes in Singapore. Judgement is required in determining the
deductibility of certain expenses during the estimation of the provision for income taxes. There are
certain transactions and computations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the
ordinary course of operations. The Town Council recognises liabilities for expected tax issues based on
estimates of whether additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters
differs* from the amounts that were initially recognised, such differences will impact the income tax
provisions in the period in which such determination is made. The carrying amount of the Town
Council’s current tax payable as at 31 March 2020 is S$1,612,816 (2019: S$1,353,220).
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4.

Accumulated Surplus
The surplus for the financial year attributable to the various activities is carried forward as accumulated surplus in the respective funds as follows:
Total
Note
OPERATING INCOME
Conservancy and service fees
Less: Operating income transfer to Sinking fund
(minimum required by law)
Less: Operating income transfer to Lift
Replacement fund (minimum required by law)
Agency fees
Other income

Add: Government grants
Less: Transfers to
− Sinking fund
− Lift Replacement fund
− LRF Matching Grant
− Town Improvement and Project fund (“TIPF”)

ACCUMULATED SURPLUS AT 31 MARCH

Carpark

96,793,210

95,755,594

94,776,697

93,770,445

5

(25,166,249)

(24,896,466)

(24,641,955)

(24,380,327)

(524,294)

(516,139)

6

(13,551,042)
58,075,919
9,061,620
4,486,109
71,623,648
(72,323,680)
(700,032)
619,658

(13,405,776)
57,453,352
9,080,592
4,270,188
70,804,132
(68,365,659)
2,438,473
407,929

(13,268,731)
56,866,011
4,114,794
60,980,805
(64,569,047)
(3,588,242)
546,362

(13,127,856)
56,262,262
3,914,254
60,176,516
(61,115,294)
(938,778)
359,538

(282,311)
1,209,908
262,670
1,472,578
(1,090,352)
382,226
6,755

(277,920)
1,191,090
245,111
1,436,201
(841,347)
594,854
4,402

9,061,620
108,645
9,170,265
(6,664,281)
2,505,984
66,541

9,080,592
110,823
9,191,415
(6,409,018)
2,782,397
43,989

(80,374)
(394,619)
(474,993)

2,846,402
(373,029)
2,473,373

(3,041,880)
(347,529)
(3,389,409)

(579,240)
(328,104)
(907,344)

388,981
(4,115)
384,866

599,256
(3,877)
595,379

2,572,525
(42,975)
2,529,550

2,826,386
(41,048)
2,785,338

16
17

20

21
5 & 21
6 & 21
6 & 21
7 & 21

SURPLUS FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR
Add: Accumulated Surplus at 1 April
Less: Appropriation to TIPF
Transfer of Surplus from Carpark to Residential
Less: Lift Replacement fund – Voluntary Contribution

Commercial Property
2020
2019
S$
S$

2019
S$

Less: Operating expenditure
Add: Interest income
Operating surplus/(deficit) before income tax
and government grants
Less: Income tax
Surplus/(Deficit) before government grants

Residential Property
2020
2019
S$
S$

2020
S$

7
6

2,016,513

1,985,149

2020
S$

2019
S$
-

-

-

-

25,264,818

33,466,622

25,123,831

33,326,235

140,987

140,387

-

-

(3,610,426)
(1,944,071)
(7,750,737)
(3,627,857)
8,331,727

(3,517,084)
(1,893,811)
(16,168,681)
(3,770,713)
8,116,333

(3,610,114)
(1,943,903)
(7,610,950)
(3,627,857)
8,331,007

(3,516,772)
(1,893,643)
(16,029,494)
(3,770,713)
8,115,613

(312)
(168)
(139,787)
720

(312)
(168)
(139,187)
720

-

-

7,856,734

10,589,706

4,941,598

7,208,269

385,586

596,099

2,529,550

2,785,338

14,065,118
-

14,531,521
(4,056,109)
(7,000,000)

11,523,415
2,529,550
-

12,382,228
(3,852,420)
2,785,338
(7,000,000)

2,541,703

2,149,293
(203,689)
-

(2,529,550)
-

(2,785,338)
-

21,921,852

14,065,118

18,994,563

11,523,415

2,927,289
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5.

Sinking Fund
Total
Note
Balance at 1 April
Add:
Investment income
Liquidated damages
Operating income transfers from conservancy and service fees
Transfer from government grants
– Minimum required by law
– GST subvention
– Lift Maintenance grants
Less: Expenditure
Less: Income tax
Surplus/(Deficit) for the financial year

Current assets
Conservancy and service fees receivables
Other receivables
Balance due from Accumulated Surplus
Investments in bonds
Interest receivable
Fixed deposits
Cash at bank
Total assets
Current liabilities
Payables and accrued expenses
Provision for taxation
Total liabilities
NET ASSETS

2019
S$

Residential Property
2020
2019
S$
S$

Commercial Property
2020
2019
S$
S$

92,389,653

82,449,669

82,001,310

72,026,597

10,388,343

10,423,072

5(i)
5(i)
4

2,206,996
104,800
25,166,249

1,981,901
24,896,466

2,184,927
104,300
24,641,955

1,962,142
24,380,327

22,069
500
524,294

19,759
516,139

4 & 21
4 & 21
4 & 21

2,225,708
956,966
427,752
31,088,471
(20,089,779)
(290,694)
10,707,998

312
547,175
(356,951)
(2,907)
187,317

312
536,210
(568,542)
(2,397)
(34,729)

5(ii)
20

Balance at 31 March
Represented by:
Non-current assets
Investments in bonds

2020
S$

103,097,651

11

11
14
14

2,145,028
946,800
425,256
30,395,451
(20,215,710)
(239,757)
9,939,984
92,389,653

25,447,691

39,420,952

785,815
621,055
7,143,046
14,493,129
666,903
56,259,147
855,200
80,824,295
106,271,986

685,431
333,183
7,275,717
459,362
44,259,147
2,017,199
55,030,039
94,450,991

2,643,885
530,450
3,174,335

1,585,913
475,425
2,061,338

103,097,651

92,389,653

29

2,225,708
956,966
427,440
30,541,296
(19,732,828)
(287,787)
10,520,681
92,521,991

2,145,028
946,800
424,944
29,859,241
(19,647,168)
(237,360)
9,974,713
82,001,310

10,575,660

10,388,343

PASIR RIS - PUNGGOL TOWN COUNCIL
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020

5.

Sinking Fund (Continued)
(i)

Income
2020
S$
Interest from investments in bonds
Interest from financial institutions
Liquidated damages

(ii)

1,167,781
1,039,215
104,800
2,311,796

2019
S$
1,357,244
624,657
1,981,901

Expenditure

Re-roofing works
Re-wiring works
Replacement of booster and water pumps and pipe
Replacement of refuse handling equipment
Repairs and redecoration
General and administrative expenses
Non-claimable GST

30

2020
S$

2019
S$

580,622
9,613,013
2,122,455
680,434
6,125,463
795,787
172,005
20,089,779

85,414
2,082,080
2,429,096
1,114,918
13,494,832
763,502
245,868
20,215,710
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6.

Lift Replacement fund
Total
Note

Residential Property
2020
2019
S$
S$

Commercial Property
2020
2019
S$
S$

2020
S$

2019
S$

71,819,978

41,366,783

69,411,900

39,327,456

2,408,078

2,039,327

1,602,823
845,066
834,478
13,551,042

764,384
1,776,992
13,405,776

1,586,795
845,066
834,478
13,268,731

756,740
1,776,992
13,127,856

16,028
282,311

7,644
277,920

1,198,457
515,286
230,328
7,750,737
26,528,217
(13,265,826)
(210,808)
13,051,583
84,871,561

1,155,015
509,812
228,984
16,168,681
34,009,644
(10,452,412)
(104,037)
23,453,195
7,000,000
71,819,978

1,198,457
515,286
230,160
7,610,950
26,089,923
(13,209,960)
(208,700)
12,671,263
82,083,163

1,155,015
509,812
228,816
16,029,494
33,584,725
(10,397,284)
(102,997)
23,084,444
7,000,000
69,411,900

168
139,787
438,294
(55,866)
(2,108)
380,320
2,788,398

168
139,187
424,919
(55,128)
(1,040)
368,751
2,408,078

37,111,039

27,127,869

Total assets

423,131
1,433,512
5,880,077
642,824
40,000,000
1,635,483
50,015,027
87,126,066

369,078
6,749,939
10,703,948
186,981
26,000,000
2,042,806
46,052,752
73,180,621

Current liabilities
Payables and accrued expenses
Provision for taxation
Total liabilities
NET ASSETS

1,939,483
315,022
2,254,505
84,871,561

1,221,959
138,684
1,360,643
71,819,978

Balance as at 1 April
Add
Investment income
Selective Lift Replacement Programme disbursement
Lift Enhancement Programme disbursement
Operating income transfers from conservancy and service fees
Transfer from government grants
– Minimum required by law
– GST subvention
– Lift Maintenance Grant
– Lift Replacement Fund Matching Grant *
Less: Expenditure
Less: Income tax
Surplus for the financial year
Transfer from operating fund – voluntary contribution*
Balance at 31 March
Represented by:
Non-current assets
Investments in bonds
Current assets
Conservancy and service fees receivables
Other receivables
Balance due from accumulated surplus
Interest receivable
Fixed deposits
Cash at bank

6(i)

4
4 & 21
4 & 21
4 & 21
4 & 21
6(ii)
20
4

11

14
14
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6.

Lift Replacement fund (Continued)
Matching grant for voluntary contributions of operating fund surpluses
To assist Town Councils in building up the Lift Replacement fund (“LRF”), Ministry of National
Development will provide a 50% matching grant to the following contributions Town Councils make to
the LRF:
•

•

Quarterly contribution to the LRF from Service and Conservancy Charges collections and other
grants-in-aids, including voluntary contributions beyond the minimum LRF contribution rate of
14%; and
Voluntary contributions of Operating fund surpluses to the LRF at the end of a financial year.

* Transfer from operating fund – voluntary contribution
The amount of S$ Nil (2019: S$7,000,000) is a voluntary contribution which was made subsequent to,
but reflected as, contribution made during the financial year ended 31 March 2020. This voluntary
contribution is made in accordance with Section 33(9) of the Town Council Act (TC Act). With the
additional voluntary contribution of the Operating fund surpluses to the Lift Replacement fund, the
Town Council will be entitled to receive a matching grant of S$ Nil (2019: S$3,500,000), which is
recognised in this financial year.
(i)

Investment income
2020
S$
Interest from investments in bonds
Interest from financial institutions

(ii)

898,046
704,777
1,602,823

2019
S$
490,573
273,811
764,384

Expenditure
2020
S$
Replacement of Main sheaves/ropes
Replacement of ARD and EBOPs batteries
Replacement of lift position display panel
Replacement of inverter units
Lifts overhauls
Selective Lift Replacement Programme expenditure
Lift Enhancement Programme expenditure
General and administrative expenses
Non-claimable GST

2,262,231
774,518
1,019,270
1,745,746
1,142,400
3,490,846
1,717,373
402,059
711,383
13,265,826

2019
S$
1,594,431
525,164
1,672,969
1,451,235
4,283,279
459,105
466,229
10,452,412

Ministry of National Development (“MND”), on 23 January 2017, announced that all Town Councils will
have to set up dedicated Lift Replacement Funds (“LRF”). 14% of the Sinking fund amount as at 31
March 2017, will be carved out as initial fund amount for LRF. The LRF will be designated for future lift
replacements and other lift-related replacement works. The effective date for the LRF was set on 1 April
2017.
Subsequent to the initial set up of the LRF, the minimum quarterly transfer to Sinking fund and LRF will
be 26% and 14%, respectively, from the Service and Conservancy Income. Consequently, initial amounts
from Sinking fund which were transferred to LRF was S$11.6 million for the Residential Property and
S$1.7 million for the Commercial Property.
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7.

Town Improvement and Project fund
Total
Note

Less: Expenditure
Deficit for the financial year
Appropriation from accumulated surplus #
Balance at 31 March

Commercial Property
2020
2019
S$
S$

2019
S$

7,275,367

3,541,659

7,084,407

3,536,561

190,960

5,098

4 & 21

3,627,857

3,770,713

3,627,857

3,770,713

-

-

7(i)

(5,853,501)
(2,225,644)

(4,093,114)
(322,401)

(5,819,450)
(2,191,593)

(4,075,287)
(304,574)

(34,051)
(34,051)

(17,827)
(17,827)

-

4,056,109

-

3,852,420

-

203,689

5,049,723

7,275,367

4,892,814

7,084,407

156,909

190,960

2,452,052
3,376,950
5,829,002

3,333,537
4,512,473
7,846,010

779,279
779,279

570,643
570,643

5,049,723

7,275,367

Balance at 1 April
Add:
Transfer from government grants

Residential Property
2020
2019
S$
S$

2020
S$

4

Represented by:
Current assets
Other receivables
Balance due from Accumulated Surplus
Total assets
Current liabilities
Payables and accrued expenses
Total liabilities
NET ASSETS
#

The amount required by the Town Improvement and Project funds for the following financial year would then be appropriated from the accumulated surplus.
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7.

Town Improvement and Project fund (Continued)
(i)

Expenditure

Consultancy fees and architectural fees
Town improvement works

8.

2020
S$
706,814
5,146,687
5,853,501

2019
S$
346,053
3,747,061
4,093,114

2020
S$
1,784,779

2019
S$
574,390

Neighbourhood Renewal programme (“NRP”)

Balance at 1 April
Funding from government
Other income
Payment to contractors
Movement during the financial year

6,126,229
5,500
(7,112,382)
(980,653)

Balance at 31 March

3,906,357
3,000
(2,698,968)
1,210,389

804,126

1,784,779

NRP balance is denominated in Singapore dollar as at reporting date.
9.

Property, plant and equipment
Office
renovation
S$

Furniture
and fittings
S$

Office
equipment
S$

1,144,933
1,144,933

436,129
436,129

305,975
8,942
(1,600)
313,317

-

1,887,037
8,942
(1,600)
1,894,379

1,144,933
1,144,933

436,129
436,129

313,317
148,393
(1,056)
460,654

457,005
457,005
249,308
706,313

457,005
2,351,384
397,701
(1,056)
2,748,029

1,068,202
54,990
1,123,192
12,424
1,135,616

386,634
22,980
409,614
10,544
420,158

280,235
11,836
(1,600)
290,471
23,415
(756)
313,130

304,314
304,314

1,735,071
89,806
(1,600)
1,823,277
350,697
(756)
2,173,218

Carrying amount
At 31 March 2019

21,741

26,515

22,846

-

71,102

At 31 March 2020

9,317

15,971

147,524

401,999

574,811

Cost
At 1 April 2018
Additions
Disposal
At 31 March 2019
Recognition of right-of-use assets on
initial application of FRS 116 (Note 28)
Adjusted balance at 1 January 2019
Additions
Disposal
At 31 March 2020
Accumulated depreciation
At 1 April 2018
Depreciation
Disposal
At 31 March 2019
Depreciation
Disposal
At 31 March 2020
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Leasehold
premises
S$

Total
S$
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9.

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)
Property, plant and equipment includes right-of-use assets with carrying amount of S$401,999 which
are presented together with the owned assets of the same class as underlying assets. Details of rightof-use assets are disclosed in Note 10.
During the financial year, the Town Council acquired plant and equipment for an aggregate of
S$397,701 (2019: S$8,942) of which S$249,308 (2019: Nil) was acquired by means of a lease, and
S$148,393 (2019: S$8,942) was acquired by cash.

10.

The Town Council as a lessee
Town Council leases office space under 3 years lease arrangement, with an option to renew the lease
subject to certain conditions being met. Lease payments are made monthly and are at a fixed rate
throughout the lease period. Previously, this lease was classified as operating lease under FRS 17.
Extension option
The leases contain extension periods, for which the related lease payments had not been included in
lease liabilities as the Town Council is not reasonably certain to exercise the extension option. The Town
Council negotiates extension options to maximise operational flexibility in terms of managing the assets
used in the Town Council operations. The majority of the extension options are exercisable by the Town
Council and not by the lessor.
Recognition exemptions
The Town Council has certain office rental and equipment with lease terms of 12 months or less and/or
of low value. For such leases, the Town Council has elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities.
10(a) Right-of-use assets
The carrying amount of right-of-use assets by class of underlying asset classified within property,
plant and equipment as follows:

Note
At 1 April 2019
Additions
Depreciation
At 31 March 2020

9

Leasehold
premises
S$
457,005
249,308
(304,314)
401,999

The total cash outflow for leases during the financial year ended 31 March 2020 is S$322,800.
10(b) Lease liabilities
2020
S$
Lease liabilities - non-current
Lease liabilities - current

176,487
235,184
411,671
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10.

The Town Council as a lessee (Continued)
10(c) Amounts recognised in profit or loss
2020
S$
Interest expense on lease liabilities
Expense relating to short-term leases
Expense relating to low value assets
Lease expenses

11.

28,158
15,000
110,219
-

2019
S$
598,209

Investments in bonds

At amortised cost
Maturing:
Within 1 year
After 1 year but within 5 years
More than 5 years

Taken up in Accumulated Surplus
Taken up in Sinking Fund (Note 5)
Taken up in Lift Replacement Fund (Note 6)

2020
S$

2019
S$

83,051,859

72,548,821

14,493,129
54,566,284
13,992,446
83,051,859

27,484,523
45,064,298
72,548,821

6,000,000
39,940,820
37,111,039
83,051,859

6,000,000
39,420,952
27,127,869
72,548,821

Investments in bonds represents investments in quoted bonds issued by statutory boards and
government-linked companies, with a fixed interest rate of 1.825% to 4.4% (2019: 1.825% to 3.97% per
annum and maturity date of July 2020 to January 2030 (2019: 9 July 2020 to 1 May 2028), and are
denominated in Singapore dollar as at reporting date.
The effective interest rates per annum for the bonds were as follows:
2020
%
Quoted bonds with fixed interest

2.25

2019
%
2.95

The fair value of investment in bonds is based on the closing bid price at the end of the financial year
as follows:

Quoted bonds
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2020
S$

2019
S$

85,095,915

74,087,525
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12.

Conservancy and service fees receivables

Conservancy and service fees receivables
Add: Interest receivable on late payments
Less: Loss allowance (Note 26)

2020
S$

2019
S$

4,637,856
2,621,025
7,258,881
(3,793,967)
3,464,914

4,611,508
2,393,661
7,005,169
(3,562,413)
3,442,756

Conservancy and service fees receivables are generally on 30 (2019: 30) days’ credit terms. Penalty fee
is charged on the outstanding balances. Allowances are made in respect of estimated irrecoverable
amounts are determined by reference to past default experience.
Conservancy and service fees receivables are disclose denominated in Singapore dollar as at reporting
date.
The details of the impairment of conservancy and service fees receivables and credit exposures are
disclosed in Note 26.

13.

Other receivables

Grant receivables
– Community Improvement Projects Committee
– GST subvention
– LRF Matching Grant
GST receivables
Deposits
Prepayments
Other receivables
Less: Loss allowance (Note 26)

2020
S$

2019
S$

2,385,714
920,809
1,768,152
5,074,675
473,595
1,920,206
278,240
1,630,035
9,376,751
(518,810)
8,857,941

3,342,734
920,920
5,262,137
9,525,791
1,308,571
158,640
1,345,578
12,338,580
12,338,580

The details of the impairment of other receivables and credit exposures are disclosed in Note 26.
Other receivables are denominated in Singapore dollar as at reporting date.
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14.

Cash and bank balances

Cash at bank
– Sinking Fund
– Lift Replacement Fund
– Accumulated Surplus

Note

2020
S$

2019
S$

5
6

855,200
1,635,483
12,094,822
14,585,505

2,017,199
2,042,806
14,235,796
18,295,801

8,000
14,593,505

8,000
18,303,801

56,259,147
40,000,000
28,000,000
124,259,147

44,259,147
26,000,000
26,114,693
96,373,840

138,852,652

114,677,641

98,259,147
26,000,000
124,259,147

64,111,693
32,262,147
96,373,840

Cash on hand
– Accumulated Surplus
Cash and cash equivalents
Fixed deposits with financial institutions
– Sinking Fund
– Lift Replacement Fund
– Accumulated Surplus

5
6

Fixed deposits maturing:
– Between 1 to 6 months
– Between 7 to 12 months

Cash at bank earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates.
Fixed deposits are placed for varying periods from 1 to 12 months (2019: 3 to 12 months), bear interest
rates ranging from 1.35% to 2.10% (2019: 1.82% to 2.02%) per annum. The weighted average effective
interest rates per annum relating to fixed deposits is 1.84% (2019: 1.93%) per annum.
Cash and bank balances are denominated in Singapore dollar as at reporting date.
For the purpose of presenting the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise the
following at the end of the financial year:

Cash and bank balances
Less: Fixed deposits with maturity more than 3 months
Cash and cash equivalents
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2020
S$

2019
S$

138,852,652
(124,259,147)

114,677,641
(96,373,840)

14,593,505

18,303,801
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15.

Payables and accrued expenses

Work order accruals
Account payables
Sundry creditors – utilities
Amount payable to other Town Council
Amount payable to related party
Other payables and accruals
Refundable deposits
GST Payable
Total payable and accrued expenses, representing total
financial liabilities carried at amortised cost

2020
S$

2019
S$

1,239,542
5,500,409
931,437
99,425
3,320,642
5,574,262
435,811
-

318,748
7,478,503
2,187,983
113,859
1,952,423
1,276,609
487,789
93,331

17,101,528

13,909,245

Payables and accrued expenses are non-interest bearing, repayable on demand and are to be settled
in cash.
Payables and accrued expenses are denominated in Singapore dollar as at reporting date.

16.

Agency fees
These are fees received for routine maintenance of HDB's carparks in the Town.

17.

Other income
Other income comprises of the followings:
2020
S$
Administrative fees
Interest on late payment of conservancy and service fees
Liquidated damages
Temporary occupation licence
Use of void deck, water, electricity and common property
Others

18.

7,559
796,441
392,216
1,871,360
1,173,175
245,358
4,486,109

2019
S$
4,651
661,824
505,113
2,036,011
879,101
183,488
4,270,188

Managing agent’s fees
The Town Council’s management of its daily operations has been outsourced to a managing agent.
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19.

General and administrative expenditure
Note

Advertising, publicity and public relations
Agency fees
Bad debts written-off
Bank commission
Computing services
Consultancy fee
Credit cards and NETs charges
Depreciation of fixed assets
Depreciation of right-of-use assets
Doubtful debts expense
Doubtful debts expense – non S&CC
Expendable assets
Insurance premium
Lease interest expenses
Newspaper and periodicals
Irrecoverable goods and services tax *
Office rental and upkeep expenses
Office stationery and supplies
Office water and electricity
Others
Postages
Property tax
Telecommunications expenses
Town Councillors’ allowances

9
9
26

10

2020
S$
242,405
178,484
116
472
317,005
782,541
79,914
46,383
304,314
231,554
518,810
653
55,598
28,158
2,132
262,872
262,219
50,260
64,931
722,343
156,275
203,193
157,606
272,547
4,940,785

2019
S$
225,249
167,786
496
792
581,441
36,237
81,224
89,806
192,308
205
60,417
2,252
360,976
598,209
66,631
57,955
413,387
163,101
203,777
163,097
263,700
3,729,046

* Government grant received by the Town Council are considered non-taxable supplies. Therefore,
input tax claimable is based on a formula determined by the Inland Revenue Authority of Singapore.
The unclaimable portion is charged to income and expenditure during the financial year.
This is allocated to the following expenditure:
2020
S$
Operating expenditure
Sinking fund expenditure (Note 5(ii))
Lift Replacement fund expenditure (Note 6(ii))

4,717,048
134,242
89,495
4,940,785

40

2019
S$
3,570,832
94,928
63,286
3,729,046
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20.

Income tax
Note

Income tax expense
– Current year
– Under-provision in prior financial year

Taken up in:
Accumulated surplus
Sinking fund
Lift Replacement fund

4
5
6

2020
S$

2019
S$

896,121
896,121

716,694
129
716,823

394,619
290,694
210,808
896,121

373,029
239,757
104,037
716,823

The Town Council is incorporated in Singapore and accordingly is subject to income tax rate of 17%.
There were no changes in the enterprise income tax of the difference applicable jurisdictions in the
current financial year from the last financial year.
The Town Council enjoys a concessionary tax rate of 10% for the income earned on investment in bonds.
Reconciliation of effective tax rate is as follows:

Investment and interest income
Other income
Government grant
Taxable income
Income tax at statutory rate
Singapore statutory stepped income exemption
Tax effect on concessionary income
Tax remission of government grant under Section 92(2) of
Singapore Income Tax Act
Under-provision in prior financial year
Others
Tax expense

41

2020
S$

2019
S$

4,426,439
1,990,535
25,264,818
31,681,792

3,142,789
2,107,418
33,466,622
38,716,829

5,385,905
(17,425)
(154,587)

6,581,861
(17,425)
(135,943)

(4,279,969)
(37,803)
896,121

(5,673,370)
129
(38,429)
716,823
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21.

Government grants
(i)

Government grants taken to income and expenditure during the financial year are as follows:

Note

Total
2020
S$

Government grants
received / receivable
Less: Transfers to
- Sinking Fund
- Lift Replacement Fund
- Town Improvement
And Project fund

(ii)

4

25,264,818

2019
S$

33,466,622

Service and
Conservancy
Charges Grant
2020
2019
S$
S$

GST Subvention
2020
2019
S$
S$

8,560,414

8,250,110

3,680,610

Lift Maintenance
2020
2019
S$
S$

3,641,518

1,645,200

1,635,600

4, 5

(3,610,426)

(3,517,084)

(2,225,708)

(2,145,028)

(956,966)

(946,800)

(427,752)

(425,256)

4, 6

(9,694,808)

(18,062,492)

(1,198,457)

(1,155,015)

(515,286)

(509,812)

(230,328)

(228,984)

4, 7

(3,627,857)

(3,770,713)

8,331,727

8,116,333

-

-

5,136,249

4,950,067

2,208,358

Payment from Citizen’s
Consultative
Committee
2020
2019
S$
S$

Lift Replacement Fund
(LRF) Matching
2020
2019
S$
S$

7,750,737

16,168,681

3,627,857

3,770,713

-

-

-

-

-

-

(7,750,737)

(16,168,681)

-

-

-

-

-

2,184,906

987,120

981,360

-

-

(3,627,857)

(3,770,713)

-

The total amount of grants received (including grants received in advance) since the formation of the Town council is as follows:
2020
S$

2019
S$

Total grants received/receivable at 1 April
Grants received during the financial year

206,711,971
25,264,818

173,245,349
33,466,622

Total grants received/receivable at 31 March

231,976,789

206,711,971
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22.

Goods and services tax
Government grants received by the Town Council are considered non-taxable supplies. Therefore, input
tax claimable is based on a formula determined by the Inland Revenue Authority of Singapore. The nonclaimable portion is charged to the Income and Expenditure/Sinking Fund/Lift Replacement Fund
during the financial year.

23.

Significant related party transactions
Pasir Ris - Punggol Town Council is managed by the managing agent, EM Services Pte Ltd. Related party
relates to the managing agent who manages the operations of the Town Council and provides key
management personnel services to the Town Council.
During the financial year, in addition to those disclosed elsewhere in these financial statements, the
Town Council entered into the following transactions with the managing agent:

Expenditure paid to managing agent in relation to:
Managing agent’s fees
Energy saving project
Essential maintenance service expense
Project management fees
Upgrading and consideration of playgrounds
Lift repairs and servicing
Others

2020
S$

2019
S$

10,450,150
6,479,375
1,077,485
304,128
3,217,467
109,947

10,013,598
3,819,010
1,048
1,199,888
191,015
4,058,484
157,708

Key management personnel
Key management personnel are those persons having the authority and responsibility for planning,
directing and controlling the activities of the Town Council, directly or indirectly, including any Town
Councillors (whether executive or otherwise) of that Town Council.
The Town Council pays the monthly fee to EM Services Pte Ltd and does not incur any manpower and
related costs except for Town Councillors’ allowances.

Town Councillors’ allowance (Note 19)

43

2020
S$

2019
S$

272,547

263,700
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24.

Capital commitments
Capital expenditures approved by the Town Council but not provided for in the financial statements as
at reporting date are as follows:

Amount approved and contracted for
Amount approved but not contracted for

25.

2020
S$

2019
S$

43,362,109
76,531,000
119,893,109

41,416,206
36,703,777
78,119,983

Operating lease commitments
At the end of the reporting date, the Town Council has commitments for future minimum lease
payments under non-cancellable operating leases in respect of the office premises and rental of
computer hardware and software with an original term of more than one year as follows:
2019
S$
Future minimum lease payments payable:
Within one year
After one year but within five years

716,107
549,568
1,265,675

The lease has its tenure of 3 years, with an option to renew the lease for another 3 years subject to
certain conditions being met. There are no restrictions placed upon the Town Council by entering into
these leases. The lease expenditure charged to income and expenditure during the financial year is
disclosed in Note 19 to the financial statements.

26.

Financial instruments and financial risks
The Town Council’s financial instruments comprise certain cash and cash equivalents, and various items
including investment in financial assets, conservancy and service fees receivables, other receivables,
other payables and accrued expenses that arise from its operations.
The main risks arising from the Town Council’s financial instruments are credit risk and market risk. The
Town Council is not exposed to foreign exchange risk. There is no significant liquidity risk as sufficient
cash is maintained. Risks management policies and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes
in the operational environment and market conditions.
There have been no changes since the last financial year to the Town Council’s exposure to these
financial risks or the manner in which it manages and measures the risk.
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26.

Financial instruments and financial risks (Continued)
Credit risk
Credit risk refers to the risk that the counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in
a loss to the Town Council. Town Council performs ongoing credit evaluation of its counterparties’
financial condition and generally do not require a collateral.
Town Council’s major classes of financial assets are bank deposits, conservancy and service fees
receivables, other receivables and investments in financial assets.
Bank deposits are mainly deposits with banks with high credit-ratings assigned by international credit
rating agencies.
Conservancy and service fees receivables consist of a large number of household owners, thus Town
Council do not have any significant credit exposure to any single counterparty or any groups of
counterparties having similar characteristics.
The other receivables comprise mainly of receivables from Citizen's Consultative Committee, other
deposits and GST Subvention receivables that are not past due or impaired as at 31 March 2020.
The Town Council's investment portfolio comprises of investments in bond and fixed deposits.
Approximately 67% (2019: 88%) of the investments in bonds comprises Bonds issued by Statutory
Boards and/or Government related agencies and the remaining 33% (2019: 12%) comprises of
corporate bonds. Corporate bonds are placed with institutions which the Town Council considers to be
of good credit standing.
Investments in debt securities are subject to adverse changes in the financial condition of the issuer, or
in general economic conditions, or both, which may impair the ability of the issuer to make payment of
interest and principal. Exposure to credit risk is monitored by the management with oversight from the
Finance/Investment & Finance Committee and the Town Council. In addition, the Town Council is
required to comply with the requirements as stated in the Town Councils Financial Rules on
investments and investment criteria.
The maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the carrying amount of each financial asset in
the statement of financial position.
The Town Council’s conservancy & service fees receivables comprise mainly from S&CC collections. The
credit risk for S&CC receivable arise mainly from residents who are facing significant financial hardships
and have difficulties paying their S&CC fees despite letter of demand sent. Procedures are in place for
collecting the outstanding S&CC including prosecution orders.
An allowance for impairment is made in respect of overdue S&CC receivable from residents where the
amount is still outstanding after all collection procedures are adhered to. The allowance represents the
aggregate amount by which management considers it necessary to write down its loans receivable in
order to state it in the balance sheet at its estimated recoverable value.
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26.

Financial instruments and financial risks (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued)
To assess and manage its credit risks, the Town Council categorises the aforementioned financial assets
according to their risk of default. The Town Council defines default to have taken place when internal
or/and external information indicates that the financial asset is unlikely to be received, which could
include a breach of debt covenant, default of interest due for more than 30 days, but not later than
when the financial asset is more than 90 days past due as per FRS 109’s presumption.
The Town Council has not rebutted the presumption included in FRS 109 that there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition when financial assets are more than 30 days
past due.
In their assessment, the management considers, amongst other factors, the latest relevant credit
ratings from reputable external rating agencies where available and deemed appropriate, historical
credit experiences, latest available financial information and latest applicable credit reputation of the
debtor.
The Town Council’s internal credit risk grading categories are as follows:
Category
1
2

3

4

5

Description
Low credit risks Note 1
Non-significant increase in credit risks
since initial recognition and financial
asset is ≤ 30 days past due
Significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition Note 2 or financial
asset is > 30 days past due
Evidence indicates that financial asset
is credit-impaired Note 3

Evidence
indicates
that
the
management has no reasonable
expectations of recovering the write off
amount Note 4

Basis of recognising ECL
12-months ECL
12-months ECL

Lifetime ECL

Difference between financial asset’s gross
carrying amount and present value of
estimated future cash flows discounted at
the financial asset’s original effective
interest rate
Written off

Note 1. Low credit risk
The financial asset is determined to have low credit risk if the financial assets have a low risk of default,
the counterparty has a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the near term
and adverse changes in economic and business conditions in the longer term may, but will not
necessarily, reduce the ability of the counterparty to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations.
Generally, this is the case when the Town Council assesses and determines that the debtor has been,
is in and is highly likely to be, in the foreseeable future and during the (contractual) term of the financial
asset, in a financial position that will allow the debtor to settle the financial asset as and when it falls
due.
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26.

Financial instruments and financial risks (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued)
Note 2. Significant increase in credit risk
In assessing whether the credit risk of the financial asset has increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Town Council compares the risk of default occurring on the financial asset as of
reporting date with the risk of default occurring on the financial asset as of date of initial recognition,
and considered reasonable and supportable information, that is available without undue cost or effort,
that is indicative of significant increases in credit risk since initial recognition. In assessing the
significance of the change in the risk of default, the Town Council considers both past due (i.e. whether
it is more than 30 days past due) and forward looking quantitative and qualitative information. Forward
looking information includes the assessment of the latest performance and financial position of the
debtor, adjusted for the Town Council’s future outlook of the industry in which the debtor operates
based on independently obtained information and the most recent news or market talks about the
debtor, as applicable. In its assessment, the Town Council will generally, for example, assess whether
the deterioration of the financial performance and/or financial position, adverse change in the
economic environment (country and industry in which the debtor operates), deterioration of credit risk
of the debtor, etc. is in line with its expectation as of the date of initial recognition of the financial asset.
Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Town Council presumes that the credit risk
on a financial asset has increased significantly since initial recognition when contract payments are >30
days past due, unless the Town Council has reasonable and supportable information that demonstrates
otherwise.
Note 3. Credit impaired
In determining whether financial assets are credit-impaired, the Town Council assesses whether one
or more events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cashflows of the financial asset
have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit impaired includes the following observable data:
▪ Significant financial difficulty of the debtor;
▪ Breach of contract, such as a default or being more than 90 days past due;
▪ It is becoming probable that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or
▪ The disappearance of an active market for the financial asset because of financial difficulties.
Note 4. Write off
Generally, the Town Council writes off, partially or fully, the financial asset when it assesses that there
is no realistic prospect of recovery of the amount as evidenced by, for example, the debtor's lack of
assets or income sources that could generate sufficient cashflows to repay the amounts subjected to
the write-off.
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26.

Financial instruments and financial risks (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued)
Conservancy and service fees receivables (Note 12)
The Town Council uses the practical expedient under FRS 109 in the form of allowance matrix to
measure the ECL for conservancy and service fees receivables, where the loss allowance is equal to
lifetime ECL.
The ECL for conservancy and service fees receivables are estimated using an allowance matrix with fixed
provision rates depending on the number of months that conservancy and service fees is past due by
reference to the recommended guidelines by MND that are assessed by property type and household
profile, and adjusted for forward looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment
which could affect the ability of the debtors to settle the financial assets.
Conservancy and service fees receivables are written off when there is evidence to indicate that the
customer is in severe financial difficulty such as being under liquidation or bankruptcy and there are no
reasonable expectations for recovering the outstanding balances.
The loss allowance for conservancy and service fees receivables are determined as follows:
Past due for Past due for Past due more
0 to 3
3 to 6
than
months
months
6 months
31 March 2020
Expected credit loss rates
Conservancy and service
fees receivables (gross)
Loss allowance
31 March 2019
Expected credit loss rates
Conservancy and service
fees receivables (gross)
Loss allowance

Past due
more than
12 months

Past due
more than
24 months Ex arrears

0%

0%

0%

100%

100%

100%

1,822,781
-

635,118
-

1,007,015
-

1,248,978
1,248,978

2,339,335
2,339,335

205,654
205,654

0%

0%

0%

100%

100%

100%

1,882,664
-

732,534
-

827,558
-

1,152,203
1,152,203

2,246,467
2,246,467

163,743
163,743

Total

7,258,881
3,793,967

7,005,169
3,562,413

Reconciliation of the opening loss allowance for conservancy and service fees receivables to the
closing loss allowance
Conservancy
and service fees
receivables
S$
At 1 April 2018
Increase in loss allowance recognised in income and expenditure
At 31 March 2019
Increase in loss allowance recognised in income and expenditure
At 31 March 2020
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3,370,105
192,308
3,562,413
231,554
3,793,967
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26.

Financial instruments and financial risks (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued)
Conservancy and service fees receivables (Note 12) (Continued)
In the prior financial year, allowances were made in relation to debtors with significant financial
difficulties. The management estimated the irrecoverable amounts by reference to past default
experience. If repeated reminders and letters of demand to settle overdue payments fail to yield results,
the Town Council will make allowances or write off the debts on a case-by-case basis.
Other receivables (Note 13)
As of 31 March 2020, the Town Council recorded other receivables excluding prepayments and GST
receivables of S$8,624,916 (31 March 2019: S$12,179,940).
The Town Council assessed the latest performance and financial position of the counterparties,
adjusted for the future outlook of the industry in which the counterparties operate in, and concluded
that there has been no significant increase in the credit risk since the initial recognition of the financial
assets. Accordingly, the Town Council measured the impairment loss allowance using 12-month ECL
and determined that loss allowance for other receivables are $518,810 (2018: Nil).
Investments in bonds (Note 11)
The Town Council’s investments in bonds at amortised cost are considered to be low risk investments
as the Town Council’s surplus funds are placed with reputable financial institutions or invested in
Singapore government bonds. Accordingly, the loss allowance recognised is based on 12-months ECL.
The Town Council did not recognise a loss allowance for the debt instruments as the Town Council does
not expect the credit loss to be material.
Conservancy and service receivables (Note 12)
The movement in the loss allowance during the financial year and the Town Council’s exposure to credit
risk in respect of the conservancy and service fees receivables is as follows:
Conservancy
and service fees
receivables
Internal credit risk grading
Note (i)
S$
Loss allowance
Balance at 1 April 2019
3,562,413
Impairment loss recognised
231,554
Balance at 31 March 2020
3,793,967
Gross carrying amount
At 1 April 2019
At 31 March 2020

7,005,169
7,258,881

Net carrying amount
At 1 April 2019
At 31 March 2020

3,442,756
3,464,914

Note (i): The Town Council uses the practical expedient under FRS 109 in the form of an allowance
matrix to measure the ECL, where the loss allowance is equal to lifetime ECL.
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26.

Financial instruments and financial risks (Continued)
Market risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as interest rates and foreign exchange rates
that will affect the Town Council’s income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The
objective of market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable
parameters, while optimising the return on risk.
Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in market interest rate. The Town Council’s exposure to interest rate risk relates
primarily to interest-earning fixed deposits with financial institutions and investments in government
and corporate bonds.
The Town Council’s surplus funds are placed with reputable financial institutions or invested in
Singapore government bonds. The exposure to interest rate risk is minimal since the deposits are with
fixed rate of interest throughout the term.
Liquidity risk
Liquidity risks refer to the risks in which the Town Council encounters difficulties in meeting its shortterm obligations. The Town Council manages the liquidity risk by maintaining sufficient cash, internally
generated cash flows, as well as on basis of expected payment dates of the financial liabilities.
The Town Council’s operations are partially supported by various government grants from the
government and the Town Council is satisfied that funds for operations are available as and when
required.
It is expected that all the liabilities will be paid when due. The Town Council expects to meet its cash
commitments with cash inflows from operating activities and government grants.
The table below analyses the maturity profile of the Town Council’s financial and other appropriate and
applicable assets and liabilities based on contractual undiscounted cash flows:
Less than
1 year
S$

Between
2 and 5
years
S$

More
than
5 years

83,051,859
3,464,914
8,624,916
138,852,652

14,493,129
3,464,914
8,624,916
138,852,652

54,566,284
-

13,992,446
-

431,800

250,300

181,500

-

804,126
17,101,528

804,126
17,101,528

-

-

Total
S$

As at 31 March 2020
Financial assets at amortised cost
Conservancy and service receivables
Other receivables (excluding prepayments & GST)
Cash and bank balances
Lease liabilities
Advances received for Neighbourhood Renewal
Programme
Payables and accrued expenses
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26.

Financial instruments and financial risks (Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued)

Less than
1 year
S$

Between
2 and 5
years
S$

More
than
5 years

72,548,821
1,371,049
12,179,940
114,677,641

1,371,049
12,179,940
114,677,641

27,484,523
-

45,064,298
-

804,126
17,101,528

804,126
17,101,528

-

-

Total
S$

As at 31 March 2019
Financial assets at amortised cost
Conservancy and service receivables
Other receivables (excluding prepayments & GST)
Cash and bank balances
Advances received for Neighbourhood Renewal
Programme
Payables and accrued expenses

Financial instruments by category
The carrying amount of the different categories of financial instruments is as disclosed on the face of
the statement of financial position and as follows:
2020
S$
Investments in bonds, represent
financial assets measured at amortised cost
Loans and receivables, represent financial
assets measured at amortised cost
Conservancy and service fees receivables
Other receivables
Less: Prepayments and GST receivables
Interest receivables
Cash and bank balances
Total
Financial liabilities at amortised cost
Payables and accrued expenses (excluding GST payables)
Lease liabilities

27.

2019
S$

83,051,859

72,548,821

3,464,914
8,857,941
(751,835)
1,482,238
138,852,652
151,905,910

3,442,756
12,338,580
(158,640)
889,509
114,677,641
131,189,846

17,101,528
411,671
17,513,199

13,815,914
13,815,914

Fair value of financial assets and liabilities
The carrying amounts of cash and bank balances, conservancy and service fees receivables and other
current receivables and payables approximate their respective fair values due to the relative short term
maturity of these financial instruments. The fair values of other classes of financial assets and liabilities
are disclosed in the respective notes to the financial statements.
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27.

Fair value of financial assets and liabilities (Continued)
The fair values of applicable assets and liabilities are determined and categorised using a fair value
hierarchy as follows:
(a)

Level 1 – the fair values of assets and liabilities with standard terms and conditions and which
trade in active markets that the Town Council can access at the measurement date are
determined with reference to quoted market prices (unadjusted).

(b)

Level 2 – in the absence of quoted market prices, the fair values of the assets and liabilities are
determined using the other observable, either directly or indirectly, inputs such as quoted prices
for similar assets or liabilities in active markets or included within Level 1, quoted prices for
identical or similar assets or liabilities in non-active markets.

(c)

Level 3 – in the absence of quoted market prices included within Level 1 and observable inputs
included within Level 2, the fair values of the remaining assets and liabilities are determined in
accordance with generally accepted pricing models.

Fair value measurements that use inputs of different hierarchy levels are categorised in its entirety in
the same level of the fair value hierarchy as the lowest level input that is significant to the entire
measurement.
Fair value hierarchy
The Town Council does not hold financial assets nor liabilities carried at fair value or at valuation.
Accordingly, the disclosure requirements of the fair value hierarchy (Level 1, 2 and 3) under FRS 107
Financial Instruments: Disclosures does not apply.
Valuation policies and techniques
At least on an annual basis, the Town Council evaluates all significant changes in fair value
measurements for reasonableness. Key drivers of the changes are identified and assessed for
reasonableness against relevant information from independent sources, or internal sources, if
necessary and appropriate.
During the financial year, there is no change in the applicable valuation technique.

28.

Funds management
The Town Council’s objectives when managing funds are:
(i)
(ii)
(iii)

to safeguard the Town Council’s ability to continue as going concern;
to provide resources to sustain future development; and
to provide funds for the purpose of strengthening the Town Council's risk management
capability.

The Town Council actively and regularly reviews and manages its funding structure to ensure optimal
funding structure, taking into consideration the future funding requirements, projected operating cash
flows, projected capital expenditures and projected strategic investment opportunities.
There were no changes in the Town Council’s approach to funds management from 31 March 2020.
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28.

Funds management (Continued)
The Town Council is not subjected to any externally imposed capital requirements during the financial
years ended 31 March 2020 and 31 March 2019.
As at the end of the reporting period, the Town Council’s total funds amounted to S$214,940,787 (2019:
S$185,550,116).

29.

Initial application of FRS 116 Leases
FRS 116 introduces significant changes to lessee accounting by removing the distinction between
operating and finance lease and requiring a lessee to adopt a single model for lessee accounting.
Lessees are required, with the exception of short- term leases and leases of low value assets, to
recognise at initial recognition, lease liability and right-of-use assets for a contract which is or contains
a lease.
The details of the accounting policies under FRS 116 and FRS 17 are disclosed in Note 2.9.
The Town Council applied FRS 116 using the modified retrospective approach and recognised the
cumulative effect of initial application on 1 April 2019, being the date of initial application of FRS 116.
Accordingly, the comparative information presented were not restated and is presented as previously
reported under FRS 17 and its related interpretations.
Practical expedients applied
The Town Council applied the following practical expedients when applying FRS 116 for the first time.
-

-

Not to reassess whether a contract is, or contains, a lease at 1 April 2019 and instead relied on the
assessment previously made using FRS 17 and INT FRS 104 Determining whether an Arrangement
contains a Lease;
Not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities of leases for which the lease term ends
within 12 months as of 1 April 2019;
Not to separate non-lease components from lease components, and instead account for each
lease component and any associated non-lease components as a single lease component; and
Use of hindsight for contracts which contain an option to extend or terminate a lease.

Leases classified as operating leases under FRS 17
The Town Council previously classified its lease of office space as operating leases under FRS 17. Under
FRS 116, the Town Council recognised, for each lease,
(a) a lease liability at the present value of the remaining lease payments, discounted using the
incremental borrowing rate at 1 April 2019; and
(b) a right-of-use asset at an amount equal to the lease liability, adjusted by the amount of any prepaid
lease payments relating to that lease recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position
immediately before 1 April 2019.
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29.

Initial application of FRS 116 Leases (Continued)
Leases classified as operating leases under FRS 17 (Continued)
In the determination of lease liabilities, the Town Council applied the practical expedient to not
separate non-lease components from lease components, and instead account for each lease
component and any associated non-lease components as a single lease component
Following the recognition of the right-of-use assets, the Town Council tested the right-of-use assets on
1 April 2019 for impairment and concluded that the right-of-use assets show no indication of
impairment.
The effects of adopting FRS 116 at 1 April 2019 is summarised as follows:
Initial adoption
FRS 116
adjustments

1 April
2019

FRS 17
S$

S$

FRS 116
S$

71,102
-

457,005
(229,272)
(227,733)

528,107
(229,272)
(227,733)

31 March
2019

Property, plant and equipment
Lease liabilities (short term)
Lease liabilities (long term)

The Town Council uses incremental borrowing rates at 1 April 2019 to discount the remaining lease
payments at 1 April 2019 when measuring the lease liabilities. The weighted-average incremental
borrowing rate applied by the Town Council at 1 April 2019 is 5.25%.
The lease liability at 1 April 2019 can be reconciled to the operating lease commitment as at 31 March
2019 as follows:
At
1 April 2019
S$
Operating lease commitments at 31 March 2019 under FRS 17 as
disclosed in the Town Council’s financial statements
Recognition exemption for leases of low-value assets
Recognition exemption for leases with 12 months or less of lease term at transition
Commitments relating to service contracts which do not contain a lease
Discounting using weight average incremental borrowing rate of 5.25%
Lease liabilities under SFRS 116 as at 1 April 2019
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(161,086)
(349,989)
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484,600
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30.

Significant events
Proceeding against Aljunied-Hougang Town Council
On 21 July 2017, Aljunied-Hougang Town Council ("AHTC") (acting through the independent panel
appointed under section 32(2) of the Town Councils Act (the "Independent Panel")) commenced
proceedings in the High Court against Ms Sylvia Lim, Mr Low Thia Khiang, Mr Pritam Singh, Mr Chua Zhi
Hon, Mr Kenneth Foo Seck Guan, Ms How Weng Fan, the administrators of the late Mr Danny Loh and
FM Solutions and Services Pte Ltd (the "Defendants") over alleged improper payments made by AHTC,
and later Aljunied-Hougang-Punggol East Town Council.
In its claim, AHTC (acting through the Independent Panel) referred to the Town Councils (Declaration
of Towns) Order 2015 (which provides that the party which is entitled in law to bring claims and seek
reliefs which relate to Punggol East SMC at the material time is Pasir Ris-Punggol Town Council
("PRPTC")) and said that it does not claim any loss attributable or properly apportioned to PRPTC,
although for the purpose of pleading its case, it has pleaded the full quantum of such claims unless and
until apportioned inter se between AHTC and PRPTC.
In light of the Town Councils (Declaration of Towns) Order 2015 and AHTC and the Independent Panel's
own position, and to discharge its duty to its residents to recover what is due, on 3 August 2017, PRPTC
commenced proceedings in the High Court against the same Defendants identified by AHTC and the
Independent Panel for the claims and reliefs relating to Punggol East SMC at the material time.
The facts and circumstances which are the subject of PRPTC's claim overlap with the facts and
circumstances which are the subject of AHTC's claim.
The information in the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2020 is subject to amounts
that may be recovered by or may be apportioned to PRPTC insofar as Punggol East SMC is concerned.
As at the date of the financial statements, the financial impact of the proceedings commenced by PRPTC
cannot be determined because the proceedings are ongoing.
Coronavirus disease 2019 (“COVID-19”)
In December 2019, several cases of pneumonia associated with COVID-19 were reported in Wuhan,
China. The spread of the COVID-19 has caused operation disruption beginning in January 2020 and the
World Health Organisation has declared this virus to be a public health emergency on January 31, 2020.
While the operation disruption is currently expected to be temporary, there is uncertainty around the
duration of these disruptions or the possibility of other effects on the operation. The Town Council will
continue to assess the situation and put in place measures to minimise impact to operation. As the
situation is still evolving, the full effect of the outbreak is subject to uncertainty and could not be
reasonably ascertained. However, Town Council is focused on the safety and well-being of its people
and has put in place all of the necessary measures to protect its residents and to rigorously manage
costs, particularly during this period.

31.

Subsequent events

By virtue of a writ of election issued on 22 June 2020, the electoral boundaries of Pasir Ris - Punggol
Town Council were redrawn. With effect from 28 October 2020, certain residential and commercial
property units under the jurisdiction of Pasir Ris - Punggol Town Council will be transferred to Sengkang
Town Council.
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